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I.

OPINION BELOW

To the Honorable Presiding Justice and Associate Justices of the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division 5:


Respondent DEFENDANT Corporation of California respectfully submit this brief in response to Appellant Arthur INDIVIDUAL’s appeal entered by Los Angeles County Superior Court, the Honorable David L. Minning, presiding, of the Trial Court’s Judgment in favor of Defendant DEFENDANT Corporation on October 9, 2009.    

II.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
Appellant Arthur INDIVIDUAL filed his lawsuit for 1) Wrongful Discharge in Violation of Government Code Section 12940(a) & (n), and 2) Wrongful Discharge in Violation of Public Policy, all related to his physical disability (CT6-9). Arthur INDIVIDUAL (“INDIVIDUAL” or “Plaintiff” hereafter) asserts that his former employer, Defendant DEFENDANT Corporation of California (“Defendant” hereafter) terminated his employment on the basis of his medical condition when it refused to allow Plaintiff to return to work after Plaintiff took time off work because of medical leave.  

Plaintiff contends that this appeal arises out of the trial court’s error in finding that the evidence was not sufficient to support the claims that Appellant was wrongfully discharged because of his medical condition (diabetes) or in violation of public policy.  Plaintiff in this action waived a jury trial, and elected instead to have a Bench Trial of his two causes of action.  In ruling on the Merits, the Court found in favor of Defendant DEFENDANT Corporation of California, and held that Plaintiff had failed to meet its burden on all causes of action.  

Plaintiff’s grounds for appeal are based upon three fundamental flaws – First, Plaintiff re-argues the entire case to the court of appeal, and contends that the court must review the entire trial and evidence in the action on a DeNovo Standard.  However, as Plaintiff has failed to identify any specific errors of law, and rather disputes the Trial Court’s review and analysis of the evidence in the case, the court must apply a sufficiency of the evidence standard.  In an analysis of the action based upon this proper standard, substantial evidence exists to support the trial court’s ruling in this case.  

Secondly, the Record on Appeal in this action is incomplete, and vital trial stipulations, exhibits and depositions used by the trial court, including those presented by Defendants, have not been presented to the court of appeal.  Rather, Appellant asks the court of appeal to rely upon evidence submitted in a prior Motion for Summary Judgment, many of which were not even utilized by the Appellant during the Trial of this action.  

Finally, Plaintiff claims that the court failed to make a ruling on their claim that Defendant failed to engage in the Interactive Process under FEHA.  However, Plaintiff has waived such a claim, since it failed to bring such an issue to the trial court’s attention during Trial or through a timely request for clarification of the Statement of Decision.  
Defendant contends that there was sufficient evidence to support the trial court’s findings, and the judgment should not be disturbed.  
III.

ARGUMENT 
A.
APPELLANT APPLIES THE WRONG STANDARD OF REVIEW ON APPEAL


Plaintiff’s Opening Brief states that it challenges the court’s ruling that “the evidence was not sufficient to support claims that Appellant was wrongfully discharged because of his medical condition (diabetes) or in violation of Public Policy”.  (Appellant’s Opening Brief, Pg. 1, ¶2).  Because Plaintiff challenges the court’s ruling based upon the evidence, the court must review this appeal under a “Sufficiency of the Evidence Standard”.  

In reviewing the evidence on appeal, all conflicts must be resolved in favor of the judgment, and all legitimate and reasonable inferences indulged in to uphold the judgment if possible.  When a judgment is attacked as being unsupported, the power of the appellate court begins and ends with a determination as to whether there is any substantial evidence, contradicted or uncontradicted, which will support the judgment.  When two or more inferences can be reasonably deduced from the facts, the reviewing court is without power to substitute its deductions for those of the trial court.  (Western States Petroleum Assn. v. Superior Court (1995) 9 Cal.4th 559, 571; Crawford v. Southern Pacific Co. (1935) 3 Cal.2d 427, 429.)

To the extent that the contentions on appeal raise the need to review the sufficiency of the evidence to support a jury verdict and the associated judgment, the court of appeal is ordinarily limited to review of whether the judgment is supported by substantial evidence.  (Winograd v. American Broadcasting Co. (1998) 68 Cal.App.4th 624, 632.)  “When considering a claim of insufficient evidence on appeal, we do not reweigh the evidence, but rather determine whether, after resolving all conflicts favorably to the prevailing party, and according the prevailing party the benefit of all reasonable inferences, there is substantial evidence to support the judgment.”  (Scott v. Pacific Gas & Electric Co. (1995) 11 Cal.4th 454, 465, disapproved on another ground in Guz v. Bechtel National, Inc. (2000) 24 Cal.4th 317, 352, fn. 17.)  
In regards to Plaintiff’s contention that the Trial court’s determination that contact made by Appellant’s wife was “arbitrary and capricious” (Opening Brief at pg 15), this court must accept the trial court’s findings unless an abuse of discretion is shown.  Whether the trial court’s findings are discretionary findings or findings of fact, the appellate court is instructed to accept the trial court’s rulings.  Factual findings are to be accepted if substantial evidence can be found in the record to support them (People v. Ayala, supra, 24 Cal.4th at p. 279), and discretionary rulings must be upheld unless an abuse of that discretion is shown.  (People v. Bishop (1993) 14 Cal.App.4th 203, 212-213).  In Bishop, the court explained that the trial court’s findings must be accepted because the lower court “is in the best position to determine the genuineness and effectiveness of the showing”, thus the lower court should only be reversed if an abuse of discretion is shown.  
Respondent asserts that based upon these proper standards of review, it will be shown that Substantial Evidence existed to support the trial court’s findings, and the errors which appellant contends that the trial court made were factual findings supported by the court’s evaluation of the testimony of the plaintiff and evidence presented to him.  

b.
Appellant has Failed to provide an adequate record, and this is grounds for dismissal of its appeal. 

“An appellant has the duty to summarize the facts fairly in light of the judgment, and such duty ‘“grows with the complexity of the record.”’  (Jones & Matson v. Hall (2007) 155 Cal.App.4th 1596, 1607, quoting Ajaxo Inc. v. E*Trade Group Inc.  (2005) 135 Cal.App.4th 21, 50.)  “Where the appellant challenges the sufficiency of the evidence, the reviewing court starts with the presumption that the record contains evidence sufficient to support the judgment; it is the appellant’s affirmative burden to demonstrate otherwise.  [Citations.]  The appellant’s brief must set forth all of the material evidence bearing on the issue, not merely the evidence favorable to the appellant, and must show how the evidence does not sustain the challenged finding.  [Citations.]  If the appellant fails to set forth all of the material evidence, its claim of insufficiency of the evidence is forfeited. (Cequel III Communications I, LLC v. Local Agency Formation Com. of Nevada County (2007) 149 Cal.App.4th 310, 329, fn. 7, emphasis added)

During the trial before Judge Minning, Plaintiff and Defendants entered a Written Stipulation of Facts which the court accepted as Joint Exhibit 1 (RT 3:16-23).  Furthermore, Plaintiffs and Defendants offered into evidence numerous exhibits that were duly admitted and recorded in the clerk's Exhibit Record as Joint Exhibits 1-8, and lodged original deposition transcripts with the court of plaintiff INDIVIDUAL, his wife Delia INDIVIDUAL, and witnesses Wanda INDIVIDUAL, Sylvia INDIVIDUAL, Alejandro INDIVIDUAL and Richard INDIVIDUAL.  For unknown reasons, copies of the Stipulation of Facts, Trial exhibits and Deposition Transcripts introduced in the course of the trial were not bound into the clerk's transcript or the Reporter’s Transcript.  This is in violation of Rule 8.224 which holds that all Trial Exhibits must be submitted to the Reviewing Court.   Apparently the Appellant did not discover the omission or request a correction within the period allowed by law. Rather, instead of referencing the Trial Exhibits and Deposition Transcripts cited in the Trial, in Appellant’s “Statement of Facts” Appellant chose to refer to exhibits from a previously filed Motion for Summary Judgment in the action, and not the actual exhibits and transcripts used in the Trial of this action.  This is significant in this case, because the court in this action made it clear that he reviewed the trial exhibits and depositions transcripts, and weighed them in making his decision in this action.  The court stated in its ruling “After reviewing all of the briefs submitted, the evidence submitted and the court’s trial notes, the court concludes...” (CT 347).  
Furthermore, the Appellant asks the court to consider exhibits which were not presented to the Trial Court during trial.  Appellant argues that the court should consider CT 124, 126, 128, 130-133, 135, 164 in ruling on their appeal, however these exhibits were never presented to the court during the Trial in this matter.  It is held that documents not presented in the trial proceeding cannot be included as part of the record on appeal and thus must be disregarded  on appeal as beyond the scope of appellate review. (Doers v. Golden Gate Bridge, Highway & Trans. Dist. (1979) 23 C3d 180, 184.  Likewise, the appellant cannot rely on facts improperly included in the record, and may be disregarded by the court (Kendall v. Allied Investigations, Inc. (1988) 197 CA3d 619, 625).  
Arguably, the absence of supporting evidence from the record on appeal, and the use of evidence which was not presented to the court at trial is grounds for dismissal. On appeal, it is up to the appellant to make an affirmative showing of error by an adequate record. Error is never presumed; a judgment of the lower court is presumed correct. Rossiter v. Benoit (1979) 88 Cal.App.3d 706, 712. In a case presenting somewhat similar facts, an appellate court ruled that an appeal must be dismissed. The defendant and appellant, after long delay, filed a partial transcript accompanied by a purported "statement of facts on appeal." The plaintiff and respondent moved to dismiss the appeal, or in the alternative for an order requiring the preparation of a reporter's transcript of the entire proceedings. The court dismissed the appeal. Erikson v. Sullivan (1947) 81 Cal.App.2d 790, 791, 285 P.2d 31. 

Here, the Plaintiffs have failed to present to the Court a complete copy of the record on appeal - exhibits and deposition transcripts presented to the court at Trial, and have failed to correct this problem, or notify the court of this omission.  Furthermore, the Plaintiff asks the court to instead refer to exhibits used in a prior motion for summary judgment, many of which were not even utilized during the Trial of this action, and fails to include Joint Trial Exhibits which were utilized by Defendants in defending the action.  Upon this basis alone, Appellant’s Appeal should be dismissed. 

c.
APPELLANT has Waived his Claim to Failure FOR Engage in the Interactive Process on Appeal since Plaintiff failed to bring this matter to the Trial Court’s attention. 

On Appeal, Plaintiff raises, for the first time, that the Trial Court erred by failing to Rule on the Appellant’s Claim that Respondent Did not Engage in the Interactive Process.  (Opening Brief, pg 36).  However, this argument must fail at the outset, as Plaintiff did not bring this matter to the Trial Court’s attention during the Trial or Judgment phase of the action.  

Appellate Courts have invoked the doctrine of “implied findings” where a party fails to timely bring alleged deficiencies in a state of decision to the Trial Court’s attention.  (CCP§634).  In other words, the defects in the Statement of Decision are waived unless the party timely requested clarification either before entry of judgment or in conjunction with a motion for new trial, or a motion to vacate and enter different judgment (Marriage of Arceneaux (1990) 51 C3d 1130, 1133-34.  Sperber v. Robinson (1994) 26 CA4th 736, 744).  The Doctrine of Implied Findings applies where the trial court rendered a statement of decision containing ambiguities or omissions, unless the record shows those ambiguities or omissions were timely brought to the trial court’s attention. (CCP §634, Marriage of Hoffmeister (“Hoffmeister II”) (1987) 191 CA3d 351, 359.  Rees v. Department of Real Estate (1977) 76 CA3d 286, 291.  

This is true even when the statement of decision fails to resolve a “principal controverted issue” requested by a party.  The deficiency is reversible error ONLY if timely brought to the Trial court’s attention.  Otherwise, the defect is Waived (Marriage of Arceneaux, supra, 51 C3d at 1133-1137.  The Rationale for this requirement is simple: “It would be unfair to allow counsel to lull the trial court and opposing counsel into believing the statement of decision was acceptable, and thereafter to take advantage of an error on appeal although it could have been corrected at trial... it is clearly unproductive to deprive a trial court of the opportunity to correct such a purported defect by allowing a litigant to raise the claimed error for the first time on appeal.”  Marriage of Arceneaux, supra 51 C3d at 1138).  

This is identical to the situation in the instant case.  Plaintiff’s complaint only alleged two causes of action – 1)Wrongful Discharge in Violation of Government Code §12940(a) & (n), and 2)Wrongful Discharge in Violation of Public Policy.  Throughout the trial of this action, Plaintiff  contended that Failure to Make Reasonable Accommodation, or Engage in the Interactive Process was inclusive within his First Cause of Action for Wrongful Discharge in Violation of Government Code §12940.  Therefore, the Court, in the statement of Decision the court held: “The court concludes that Plaintiff’s evidence was not sufficient to support, by a preponderance of the evidence, his claims that he was wrongfully discharged because of his medical condition (diabetes) or that he was wrongfully terminated in violation of public policy.” (CT 347).  

However, failure to engage in this process is a separate FEHA violation independent from an employer's failure to provide a reasonable disability accommodation, which is also a FEHA violation. (Gov. Code, § 12940, subd. (m); Gelfo v. Lockeed Martin Corp. (2006) 140 Cal.App.4th 34, 61.  Plaintiff did not file a separate claim for failure to engage in the interactive process, and cannot now require that the appellate court rule on a cause of action which was never before the Trial Court.  In an almost identical case, the court in Claudio v. Regents of University of California (2005) 134 Cal.App.4th 224, 243 emphasized that failure to engage in the interactive process is a cause of action separate from termination due to a disability, which must be pled separately.  
It is improper for the Plaintiff to now contend that the court was required to make a ruling on a separate issue of “Failure to Engage in the Interactive Process”  or for a claim for failure to make “reasonable accommodations” when the Plaintiff himself incorporated that claim into his Wrongful Discharge Claim, and failed to notify the court at the time of trial that he believed that a separate ruling was required or needed on that issue.  The Plaintiff sought damages under two causes of action, and the court made a ruling on those two causes of action at the Trial.  By failing to timely object to the statement of decision, the Plaintiff waived any potential claim that the Statement was inadequate or failed to address a principal controverted issue.  

IV. 
SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE EXISTS TO SUPPORT THE TRIAL COURT’S DECISIONS ON THE MERITS OF APPELLANT’S CLAIMS

Applying the proper standard of review, Respondent asserts that there existed sufficient evidence to support the trial court’s finding that “Plaintiff’s evidence is not sufficient to support, by a preponderance of the evidence, his claims that he was wrongfully discharged because of his medical condition (diabetes) or that he was wrongfully discharged in violation of public policy”. (CT 347).  

A.
PLAINTIFF’S FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION FOR WRONGFUL DISCHARGE IN VIOLATION OF GOVERNMENT CODE §12940(a) & (n)

The elements for Wrongful Discharge under FEHA requires plaintiff to show:  (1) plaintiff suffers from a disability, (2) he is otherwise qualified to do the job, (3) and he was subjected to adverse employment action because of his disability.  Faust v. California Portland Cement Co. (2007) 150 Cal. App. 4th, 864, 886.  Furthermore, in failure to hire cases, plaintiff is required to prove that plaintiff’s position remained open and the employer continued to seek applicants from persons of plaintiff’s qualifications.  McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green (1973) 411 U.S. 792, 802.  This position has been extended to cases of discriminatory termination whereby a plaintiff must ordinarily show that his position was ultimately filled by someone not a member of the protected class.  Brown v. McLean (4th Cir. 1998) 159 F3d 898, 905.  

In the event Plaintiff can establish a case for discrimination, the burden then shifts to the employer to articulate a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for the adverse employment action.  Guz v. Bechtel Nat’l, Inc. (2000) 24 Cal 4th 317, 355-356.  Such legitimate reasons for adverse employment actions are reasons that are factually unrelated to prohibited bias, and therefore, if true, would preclude a finding of discrimination.  Guz v. Bechtel Nat’l, Inc. supra at 24 Cal 4th 317,358.  Even if Plaintiff were able to establish a claim for disability discrimination, Defendant has demonstrated that it changed Plaintiff’s job function from truck driver to production worker temporarily for assessment purposes and after consideration of Plaintiff’s work performance issues.  
1. PLAINTIFF DID NOT ESTABLISH THAT HE WAS OTHERWISE QUALIFIED TO BE A DRIVER

The FEHA does not prohibit refusing to hire or discharging an employee with a physical or mental disability who is unable to perform his or her essential duties even with reasonable accommodations, or cannot perform those duties in a manner that would not endanger his or her health or safety or the health or safety of others even with reasonable accommodations.  Gov. Code § 12940(a)(1).  Under this code  "[a]n ADA plaintiff bears the burden of proving that she is a 'qualified individual with a disability' -- that is, a person 'who, with or without reasonable accommodation, can perform the essential functions' of her job." (Cleveland v. Policy Management Systems (1999) 526 U.S. 795, 806; see also Jones v. Potter (6th Cir. 2007) 488 F.3d 397, 403.   Likewise, under FEHA, the burden rests on the employee to prove that he could perform the essential duties of the job with or without accommodation.  Green v. State of California (2007) 42 Cal. 4th 254, 265. In this case, Plaintiff contends that he was qualified to be a driver based upon a Doctors note stating that he was free to return to driving.  However, Defendants contend that they asked him to return by working in the warehouse while they determined that it was safe, and not endangering the public to have him perform the duties of driving without blurred or double vision.  Defendant’s argued that it was legitimate and real public safety concern that Plaintiff could cause harm by driving with blurred, double vision.    
During trial, Plaintiff failed to establish that he was otherwise qualified to be a driver, and actually admitted that his blurred vision has continued since 2007.  Plaintiff contends that it was unlawful to provide him with work in the warehouse, and that Defendants were required to return him to work as a driver, however, Plaintiff failed to demonstrate that he was qualified to perform in this position.  
As set forth in Siefken v. Village of Arlington Heights (7th Cir. 1995) 65 F.3d 664, 666-667, the court has held, as a matter of law, that diabetics are not "otherwise qualified" under the ADA to perform certain jobs requiring driving. See also Chandler v. City of Dallas, 2 F.3d 1385, 1395 (5th Cir. 1993), cert. denied, which held “We are aware of no cases holding that insulin dependent diabetes does not present a significant risk in connection with the operation of motor vehicles on public highways”.  Federal Motor Carrier Safety Regulations, 49 C.F.R. § 391.41(b)(3) also specifically excludes Diabetes from driving under its provisions.  In Siefken, the court stated "A person is physically qualified to drive a motor vehicle if that person has no established medical history or clinical diagnosis of diabetes mellitus currently requiring insulin for control." Id at 666.
Under Caldwell v. Paramount Unified School Dist. (1995) 41 Cal.App.4th 189, 196-197, the courts emphasized that California Govt Code §12940 and FEHA are based upon the Federal ADA requirements, and have the identical requirements, thus in the absence of California authority, the Court is entitled to give these federal cases great weight.  Other courts have similarly held that disabled persons that present a significant potential for harm to others in the workplace cannot state a cause of action under the ADA and the Rehabilitation Act (Doe v. University of Md. Medical Sys. Corp. 50 F.3d 1261, 1266 (4th Cir. 1995), Bradley v. University of Tex. M.D. Anderson Cancer Ctr. 3 F.3d 922, 924 (5th Cir. 1993).    Further, the Court have upheld regulations prohibiting diabetics from being employed as special agents. See Davis v. Meese, 865 F.2d 592 (3rd Cir. 1989), aff'g 692 F. Supp. 505 (E.D. Pa. 1988).   When an employee knows that he is afflicted with a disability, needs no accommodation from his employer, and fails to meet "the employer's legitimate job expectations," DeLuca v. Winer Indus., Inc., 53 F.3d 793, 797 (7th Cir. 1995), due to his failure to control a controllable disability, he cannot state a cause of action under the ADA.  (Siefken at 666)
In November, 2007, INDIVIDUAL stopped work with Defendant due to droopy eye, blurred vision, headaches, and dizziness as a result of his diabetes.  (RT 7:4-16, CT 80:17-25). On November 19, 2007, Plaintiff’s doctor took Plaintiff off work because of his medical condition and gave him a doctor’s note to give to Defendant.  (CT 91, RT 9:15-10:18 )  In that doctor’s note, plaintiff’s physician noted, “His eye condition has caused him to have double vision and a droopy left eyelid that will make driving unsafe because of poor depth perception.”  (CT 91, emphasis added)  Mr. INDIVIDUAL testified that he was told that he “shouldn’t be driving” by his doctor (RT 9:12-14).   However, despite these clear instructions from his Doctor that it was unsafe for him to drive, Plaintiff testified that he still thought it was safe for him to drive with blurred vision. (RT 484: 14-16).  

 Mr. INDIVIDUAL also testified that on February 20, 2008, he obtained a document from his doctor that specifically stated that he could return to work to drive, and he submitted that to DEFENDANT (RT 17:1-18:25)  However, the Note from his doctor also stated “But is advised to return to us if his double vision recurs” (RT 84:23)

Richard INDIVIDUAL, President of DEFENDANT, expressed concern over this note because of this statement, and the fact that the double vision might return, and testified that “If somebody is driving with impaired vision, I think it is prudent to check with the insurance if it is okay if this person is insurable” (RT 86:1)  Similarly, Defendant’s Controller, Wanda INDIVIDUAL, and Plaintiff’s Supervisor, Alex INDIVIDUAL, expressed concerns about the Plaintiff driving safely, or endangering the public with blurred vision and dizziness (RT 76, 92-93, 305, 308-309, 312)   Defendants testified that this was the reason that they wanted him to return to work by starting in the factory, to ensure that his blurred double vision would not return and endanger others. (RT 308-309).

Plaintiff does not dispute these facts upon appeal.  Rather, Plaintiff contends that these fears were irrational, and unsupported by any medical evidence that his condition could threaten the health or safety of others.   Plaintiff correctly states that Respondent’s President, who ultimately made all decisions regarding Plaintiff’s employment, also suffered from diabetes, and had experienced blurry, double vision (RT 76, 92-93).  He testified that based upon his personal knowledge of these symptoms, he considered the risk of the return of his symptoms in deciding to temporarily place Plaintiff in the warehouse.  (RT 76, 92-93).  However, following this decision, Plaintiff came into the office and asked Ms. INDIVIDUAL for a job reference, informed her that he was looking for another job, and that he was on unemployment. However, as Sylvia INDIVIDUAL had testified, Plaintiff had refused, on two occasions to work in the factory (RT 120:4-121:5).  Mr. INDIVIDUAL has also testified that he would never have agreed to return to work in the factory, because he considered it a demotion, and it was too heavy (CT 83:8-84:4).  
However, it turns out that Respondent’s fears were not irrational at all.  Since the time of his separation with Defendant, Plaintiff acknowledged that his condition required future treatment.  (RT 484-485).  Plaintiff also indicated that since he worked at DEFENDANT, he had continued problems with blurred vision as many as three to four times.  (RT 484-485).  By Plaintiff’s own testimony and the advice of his doctor, Plaintiff was a risk to himself and to others as a truck driver.  As set forth in Siefken v. Village of Arlington Heights (7th Cir. 1995) 65 F.3d 664, 666-667,  this risk is substantial, and the courts have specifically recognized that this risk is a continuing danger to the public.  Under Siefken, as a matter of law, Diabetics are not "otherwise qualified" under the ADA to perform certain jobs requiring driving.  For these reasons, Plaintiff failed to establish that he was qualified to continue as a driver due to his recurring vision problems.


2.
PLAINTIFF FAILED TO ESTABLISH THAT HE SUFFERED AN ADVERSE EMPLOYMENT ACTION AND THE COURT DID NOT REQUIRE A SHOWING OF AFFIRMATIVE TERMINATION
In order to establish a claim of discrimination on grounds of physical disability, Plaintiff must show he was subjected to an adverse employment action because of his disability.  Faust v. California Portland Cement Co. (2007) 150 Cal.App. 4th 864,886.  According to the FEHA, an adverse employment action is an action that materially affects the terms, conditions or privileges of employment.  Yanowitz v. L’oreal USA, Inc. (2005) 36 Cal 4th 1028, 1050-1052.  If an employee is offered another position as a reasonable accommodation, the employee cannot reject it simply because the employee prefers another. Hanson v. Lucky Stores, Inc. 74 Cal.App 4th 215, 228.  
In ruling on the plaintiff’s claims, the Court agreed that Plaintiff had failed to prove his case, because he had not established that he had suffered an adverse employment action.  Plaintiff incorrectly interprets the court’s ruling to mean that the court was requiring that Plaintiff be affirmatively terminated, however, plaintiff fails to identify any portion of the Court’s ruling or trial record which indicates that the court made a ruling that Plaintiff must be affirmatively terminated.  In actuality, the court did not make such a finding, but instead found that Plaintiff had failed to suffer any adverse employment action, due to plaintiff’s “infrequent” contact with Defendants, and Plaintiff’s conflicting statements and evidence as to when and why he terminated, or if even was terminated.  (CT 348).  
During Trial, Defendants presented evidence that prior to his leave, Plaintiff INDIVIDUAL had worked as a factory worker and driver (RT459), and that INDIVIDUAL was “never fired” (RT 321, 460), and that he refused to return to work as a factory worker. (RT 120:4-121:5).  Defendants presented evidence that the warehouse position was the same work that he had previously done, and that the position would be the exact same wages (RT 325).  Defendant hired INDIVIDUAL as a truck driver and as a factory worker.  (RT 5:24-6:2)  
Plaintiff was hired as a factory worker and driver by Alex INDIVIDUAL in 2006 (RT 459).  Plaintiff testified that he worked for Defendants as a factory worker throughout his employment (CT 77-78)   Before his medical leave, he had never refused working as a factory worker (CT 79)  Plaintiff testified that he believed that DEFENDANT had terminated him when he received a final paycheck in December 2007 (RT 32:11-33:23).  He stated that the reason he believed that he was terminated was because the company could pay his replacement $2.00 less than they were paying INDIVIDUAL (RT 40:26- 41:5).  Plaintiff testified that he believes he was fired by his manager Alex INDIVIDUAL because, "I believe he released me because he hired Frank at $2 less than he was paying me." (CT 88, RT 486-487)  
However, although he believed that he was terminated in December, he did not call the company to ask if he had been terminated. (RT 33:24-34:28)  In fact, Mr. INDIVIDUAL testified that he waited almost two-months, until January 31, 2008, to make any contact with Defendant (RT 49).  Mr. INDIVIDUAL testified that the reason that he never asked DEFENDANT about whether he was terminated was because he was under medical care and “didn’t feel that I needed to” (RT 48:6-14).  He later testified that the check was only a vacation check (RT 35:22-36:14).  
Plaintiff alleged that on January 31, 2008, Plaintiff received a note from his doctors stating that he could return to “normal activity without restrictions”, and submitted it to DEFENDANT Corporation on the same date (RT 14:7-16:1).  He stated that at that time he did not need any accommodations (RT 15:8-15).  Plaintiff claims that he was told on January 31, 2008 that his employer would contact the Canada office and get their permission to return him to work (RT 16:6-19, RT 36:24-37:26).  However, Defendant’s employee, Alex INDIVIDUAL,  testified that he did not received this note until approximately February 20, 2008 (RT 132: 12-16).  However, Plaintiff claims that on that date he acted “knowing that they already made their decision of not returning me back to work” (RT 36:6-14)  Plaintiff testified that after that date, he no longer made any contact with DEFENDANT Corporation, but instead only his wife made contact with his employer (RT:20-23, 48:21-49:6)  Plaintiff contends that on February 20, 2008, he obtained a document from his doctor that specifically stated that he could return to work to drive, and he submitted that to DEFENDANT (RT 17:1-18:25)

Mrs. INDIVIDUAL, the Plaintiff’s wife testified that she believed that her husband was terminated when she made a telephone call to Alex, INDIVIDUAL’s supervisor on February 22, 2008, and she claimed that Alex told her to have INDIVIDUAL file for unemployment (RT 67:3-27).  However, despite this claimed belief that he was already terminated, she continued to make additional telephone calls to several persons within DEFENDANT to check on the status of his returning to work through the end of February, including Alex INDIVIDUAL, Sylvia INDIVIDUAL and Wanda INDIVIDUAL (RT 58:1-60:28).  Mrs. INDIVIDUAL also testified that INDIVIDUAL filed for unemployment around February 25, 2008 (RT 61:9-16).  

Mrs. INDIVIDUAL's testimony contradicts itself in not only how she states that her husband was terminated, but it also contradicts itself on when he was released.  Mrs. INDIVIDUAL first testified that she and her husband hand delivered a doctor's note (dated January 31, 2008) to Alex INDIVIDUAL at DEFENDANT’s offices, and that on this same day, Alex told her to tell her husband to file for unemployment  (RT 36:3-15).  This testimony contradicts her further testimony that Alex INDIVIDUAL told her to tell her husband to file for unemployment a few days after January 31, 2008, over the telephone, and not in person (RT 37: 8-14).   However, Mr. INDIVIDUAL stated that he never told Ms. or Mr. INDIVIDUAL to file for unemployment (RT 138-139).  Alex INDIVIDUAL also testified that he never told Mr. INDIVIDUAL that he was fired  (RT 460). 
Ms. Sylvia INDIVIDUAL, DEFENDANT’s Office Manager, testified that in late February, she personally called INDIVIDUAL and told him that he could come back to work in the production department while he was waiting for approval for driving and he refused (RT 120:4-121:5).  Ms. INDIVIDUAL stated that Mr. INDIVIDUAL’s response was “Production?  No Thank You.” (RT 121)   When questioned about this telephone call, Mr. INDIVIDUAL did not dispute that the conversation occurred, but simply stated that “I wasn’t hired as a warehouse worker” (RT 51), in contradiction to his earlier testimony.   Mr. INDIVIDUAL has also testified that he would never have agreed to return to work in the factory, because he considered it a demotion, and it was too heavy (CT 83:8-84:4).  This was despite the fact that prior to his leave he agreed that his duties included regularly working in the factory, and that he had never before refused to work in the factory (CT 77-79).  
On or about February 20, 2008, Plaintiff submitted a doctor’s note to Alex INDIVIDUAL, Defendant’s Plant Manager, that released Plaintiff to return to work, but advised plaintiff to return if his double vision recurs. (CT 92)  Wanda INDIVIDUAL, Vice President of DEFENDANT Corporation, testified that after receiving the note, she contacted the insurance company to determine if he was able to be insured as a driver. (RT102-103, 306)  Sylvia INDIVIDUAL testified that in late February, Plaintiff INDIVIDUAL contacted her and asked her to be a reference because he was looking for new employment (RT 114).  After receiving confirmation from the Insurance, Wanda INDIVIDUAL, Richard INDIVIDUAL and Alex INDIVIDUAL met on March 4, 2008, and decided to return Mr. INDIVIDUAL to a position of warehouse worker for a short period of time, to ensure that his double vision had not returned (RT 308-309, RT 466)  However, Mr. INDIVIDUAL testified that on the same day, Mr. INDIVIDUAL called asking for a job reference, and stated that he was looking for another job, which made Mr. INDIVIDUAL believe that he had quit (RT 464).  Mr. INDIVIDUAL also testified that he personally spoke with Mr. INDIVIDUAL again in the first week of April 2008, and again asked Mr. INDIVIDUAL if he would like to return to working as a “warehouse and the part-time driving (sic)” and that Mr. INDIVIDUAL stated “No, thank you” (RT 465) .  For these reasons, Plaintiff failed to demonstrate that he suffered any adverse employment action at all.  The court did not require that Plaintiff demonstrate that he was affirmatively terminated, but rather found that Plaintiff simply failed to meet the requirement that he suffered any adverse employment action. 

Further, Plaintiff has no evidence to show that even if there were an adverse employment action taken against him, that it was motivated based on his medical condition, as required by  Faust v. California Portland Cement Co. (2007) 150 Cal.App. 4th 864,886.  Plaintiff’s own testimony during trial confirmed that Plaintiff believed and alleged that he was terminated because of his rate of wage, not because of his disability.  During Trial, Plaintiff testified that “ I believe he released me because he hired Frank at $2 less than he was paying me” (RT 41).  Plaintiff’s own state of mind in this matter reflects a legitimate business purpose regardless of whether Plaintiff believes it to be an ethical reason for termination.  But more importantly, Plaintiff’s state of mind is monumental, because Plaintiff’s testimony that the sending of a vacation paycheck constituted termination was the only evidence that Plaintiff submitted to the court to show that he suffered a termination or that any alleged termination was motivated by his disability.  

3.
THE COURT DID NOT FIND THAT APPELLANT WAS REQUIRED TO HAVE DIRECT CONTACT WITH EMPLOYER TO SUCCEED IN HIS CLAIM
Appellant contends that the court committed an “abuse of discretion” by an “arbitrary and capricious” finding that INDIVIDUAL was required to have direct and frequent contact with his employer in order to demonstrate that he was ready to return to work.  However, this is not what the court found.  Rather, the court found that Plaintiff’s “infrequent” contact, and contact only through his spouse, failed to show that Plaintiff was ready and willing to return to work.  This finding is supporting by existing case law, as will be discussed.  

Plaintiff first contends that an employee is permitted to make all contact through a “family member” to indicate that he is ready to return to work, and claims that Taylor v. Phoenixville School Dis. (1999) 184 F.3d 296, 313 supports this proposition.  However, upon review of Taylor, it demonstrates that in fact the opposite is true.  The court in Taylor emphasized that 

“  An employee's request for reasonable accommodation requires a great deal of communication between the employee and employer…. A party that fails to communicate, by way of initiation or response, may also be acting in bad faith.'

While Taylor does cite the EEOC Manual to show that a family member can make the initial request for accommodation (id at 313), it also emphasized that “Participation is the obligation of both parties”  (id at 315).  In this case, the trial court did not hold that the INDIVIDUAL’s wife’s contact with Defendant was not allowed by law, but rather, that Plaintiff failed to take steps to indicate that he was ready to return to work.  
At trial, Plaintiff stated that after he was terminated in early December, he and his wife never made any contact with Defendants until January 31, 2010, when he presented his first doctor’s note (RT 34).   At trial Plaintiff was asked “Did Anyone follow-up for you, a family member, did anyone follow-up for you?” and he answered No (RT 34).   He also stated that after he presented the doctors note on January 31, 2008, over 6 weeks later, he never again made personal contact with Defendants, and instead only made contact through his wife. (RT:20-23, 48:21-49:6)  When questioned about why he did this, he replied that “I didn’t feel that I needed to” (RT 48:6-14).  Further, Defendants believed that because Plaintiff never again made contact with them, after asking for a job reference, he had indeed quit.  
Plaintiff contends that the case of Hanson v. Lucky Stores, Inc. (1994) 74 Cal.App.4th 215 stands for the proposition that an employee is not personally required to contact his employer to indicate that he is ready to return to work.  However, this is not the holding in Hanson, and Plaintiff has not provided any case law to support such a proposition.  Rather, in Hanson the Plaintiff claimed that his employer had failed to engage in the interactive process with him personally, and the court found that  consulting with Hanson’s representative – his rehabilitation specialist was sufficient.  It stated “requiring Lucky to discuss the same issues with Hanson himself would unreasonably laud form over substance”.  (Hanson at 229).  This case is not on point with Plaintiff’s argument.  Plaintiff’s other citations all refer to Federal findings that an employer did not engage in the interactive process.  As discussed above, It is Defendant’s contention that this claim is waived by Plaintiff as he did not plead this as a separate cause of action, and further did not timely inform the court during or after trial that he wanted a ruling on this issue.  
The Court’s finding pertaining to Plaintiff’s infrequent contact relates to the requirement that Plaintiff must demonstrate that he suffered an Adverse Employment Action.  In recalling that Plaintiff contact with DEFENDANT was “infrequent”, the court was citing additional reasoning to demonstrate that Plaintiff suffered no Adverse Employment Action, in response to Defendant’s contentions that he was never terminated, never sought accommodation, and refused several offers to work in the warehouse.  Under FEHA, it was plaintiff’s burden to demonstrate that he requested a reasonable accommodation under Govt Code §12900, and suffered an adverse employment action as a result.  §12940 (n) states that an employer must engage in the interactive process “in response to a request for reasonable accommodation by (a disabled) employee”.  Similarly, in Jensen v. Wells Fargo Bank (2000) 85 Cal.App.245, 266 the court stated that “It is the responsibility of both sides to keep communications open and neither side has a right to obstruct the process.”  Likewise, in Claudio v. Regents of University of California (2005) 134 Cal.App.4th 224, 247. the court emphasized that “The kind of information designed to be elicited by the interactive process (job skills and interest, etc) is personal to the individual employee”.  It also stated that “an employee has no right to withdraw himself from the process” id at 247.  
Here, Plaintiff stated that he did not need any special accommodations to return to work (RT 15) and failed to make any contact with DEFENDANT after he believed that he was terminated (RT 34). Plaintiff further stated that after January 31, 2008, he no longer made any contact with DEFENDANT Corporation, but instead only his wife made contact with his employer (RT:20-23, 48:21-49:6).  When questioned about why he did this, he replied that “I didn’t feel that I needed to” (RT 48:6-14).  
Plaintiff’s refusal to communicate with his employers about his beliefs of termination, and his desire to return to work were improper, and the trial court properly found that Plaintiff had failed to indicate a readiness or desire to return to work.  
4.
PLAINTIFF REFUSED DEFENDANT’S OFFERS OF ACCOMMODATION, AND STATED THAT HE DID NOT NEED ACCOMMODATION.  

Plaintiff contends that Defendant failed to engage in the interactive process and refused to offer Plaintiff any reasonable accommodations to return to work, in violation of FEHA, and that the Trial Court failed to rule on this issue.  As discussed above, since Plaintiff failed to raise this issue at trial, their claim to this issue is waived.  However, Defendant demonstrated at trial that they did offer reasonable accommodation by returning Plaintiff to work in the warehouse, and that Plaintiff refused, insisting that he did not need any accommodations.  

  Under FEHA, "... an employer who knows of the disability of an employee has an affirmative duty to make known to the employee other suitable job opportunities with the employer and to determine whether the employee is interested in, and qualified for, those positions, if the employer can do so without undue hardship or if the employer offers similar assistance or benefit to other disabled or nondisabled employees or has a policy or offering such assistance or benefit to any other employees." (Prilliman v. United Air Lines, Inc., supra, 53 Cal.App.4th at pp. 950-951.) Reasonable accommodation includes “Job restructuring, part-time or modified work schedules, reassignment to a vacant position, and other similar accommodations for individuals with disabilities." (Gov’t Code § 12926 (m), Cal. Code Regs., tit. 2, § 7293.9, subd. (a).)

The employer is not obligated to choose the best accommodation or the accommodation the employee seeks. (Soldinger v. Northwest Airlines, Inc. (1996) 51 Cal.App.4th 345, 370) Rather, "The employer providing the accommodation has the ultimate discretion to choose between effective accommodations, and may choose the less expensive accommodation or the accommodation that is easier for it to provide.' ... As the Supreme Court has held in analogous circumstances, an employee cannot make his employer provide a specific accommodation if another reasonable accommodation is instead provided”  (Hankins v. The Gap, Inc. (6th Cir. 1996) 84 F.3d 797, 800-801)  Here, it is undisputed that during Trial, Plaintiff and Defendant’s employees confirmed that they offered to let Plaintiff return to work by working in the warehouse, at the same rate of pay, on two separate occasions, but Plaintiff refused.  

As previously argued, Ms. Sylvia INDIVIDUAL, DEFENDANT’s Secretary, testified that in late February, she personally called INDIVIDUAL and told him that he could come back to work in the Production Department while he was waiting for approval for Driving and he refused (RT 120:4-121:5).  Mr. INDIVIDUAL stated that Mr. INDIVIDUAL’s Response was “Production?  No Thank You.” (RT 121)   When questioned about this telephone call, Mr. INDIVIDUAL did not dispute that the conversation occurred, but simply stated that “I wasn’t hired as a warehouse worker” (RT 51), in contradiction to his earlier testimony.   Mr. INDIVIDUAL has also testified that he would never have agreed to return to work in the factory, because he considered it a demotion, and it was too heavy (CT 83:8-84:4).  This was despite the fact that prior to his leave he agreed that his duties included regularly working in the factory, and that he had never before refused to work in the factory (CT 77-79).  
As stated above, Defendants believed it would be unsafe to return plaintiff to his prior position of Driver because of the risk that he might endanger himself or others.  This is further bolstered by the fact that Plaintiff believed that despite his doctor’s clear instructions that he should not be driving, he felt it was still safe to continue driving, and initially did not want to take a medical leave.  Because of this, Defendant’s offered him alternative work in the factory, a position which he had previously performed for Defendants, which he refused.  Under Hankins, the plaintiff cannot force Defendant to offer a different accommodation simply because he does not like the choices that are given to him, he must accept the reasonable accommodation provided to him.  

Plaintiff refused to accept Defendant’s offers of accommodation on multiple occasions, thus Plaintiff failed to establish this element of his claim.  
B.
 PLAINTIFF FAILED TO PROVE HIS SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION FOR WRONGFUL DISCHARGE IN VIOLATION OF PUBLIC POLICY

1. Plaintiff’s Second Cause Of Action Is Duplicative To Plaintiff’s First Cause Of Action And Subject To The Same Requirements
Plaintiff’s second cause of action is for Wrongful Discharge In Violation of Public Policy under the Fair Employment and Housing Act (FEHA).  In support of appeal on this claim, Plaintiff contends that the Trial court erred by finding appellant did not prove his case. (Plaintiff’s Opening Brief pg. 42).  In support of this Cause, Plaintiff did not allege any additional facts, requirements or remedies that would change the requirements that are necessary for plaintiff to prove.  Moreover, Plaintiff alleged that the policy against discrimination in employment that Defendant violated was Government Code § 12940(a), and cited the same elements to prove his case: (1) that plaintiff suffers from a disability, (2) he is otherwise qualified to do the job, (3) and he was subjected to adverse employment action because of his disability.  Brundage v. Hahn (1997) 57 Cal.App.4th 228.   State and federal law both analyze disability discrimination claims under a three-step framework. Under FEHA, the plaintiff bears the initial burden of establishing a prima facie case of discrimination. The employer then must offer a legitimate nondiscriminatory reason for the adverse employment decision. Finally, the plaintiff bears the burden of proving the employer's proffered reason was pretextual. (Caldwell v. Paramount Unified School Dist. (1995) 41 Cal.App.4th 189, 196-197 [48 Cal.Rptr.2d 448]; County of Fresno v. Fair Employment & Housing Com., supra, 226 Cal.App.3d at p. 1543.) Under the ADA, The plaintiff can establish a prima facie case by proving that: (1) plaintiff suffers from a disability; (2) plaintiff is a qualified individual; and (3) plaintiff was subjected to an adverse employment action because of the disability. (Morisky v. Broward County (11th Cir. 1996) 80 F.3d 445, 447.  Plaintiff was also required to prove that Plaintiff’s position was ultimately filled by someone not a member of the protected class.  Brown v. McLean (4th Cir. 1998) 159 F3d 898, 905.  


However, as discussed above, Plaintiff failed to prove that he was otherwise qualified to perform the essential functions of driving, he failed to prove that he was subject to an adverse employment action, and finally failed to prove that he was replaced by someone who was not a member of the protected class.  
2.  DEFENDANT’S FEARS TO RETURN APPELLANT TO DRIVING WERE NOT IRRATIONAL, AND ARE A PROPER DEFENSE.   

Plaintiff contends that Defendant’ beliefs that Plaintiff’s conditions of blurred and double vision might return were Irrational, and were not a defense to the discrimination.  Plaintiff contends that Raytheon Co. v. Calif Fair Employment and Housing Comm (1989) 212 Cal.App. 3d 1242, 1252 supports this proposition.  However, the facts in Raytheon couldn’t be further from the facts in this case.  In that case, the employee was terminated merely because he was diagnosed with AIDS, and the employer was concerned that he might spread the disease to other employees.  

This is vastly different from the facts in this case, where Respondents had a genuine fear that if Plaintiff drove with blurred and double vision, he could endanger himself and the general public.  As stated above, under Seifken, supra at 666-667, the court has held, as a matter of law, that diabetics are not "otherwise qualified" under the ADA to perform certain jobs requiring driving.  Because the court regards the requirements under the ADA and FEHA to be nearly identical, under Brundage v. Hahn (1997) 57 Cal.App.4th 228, the court should regard this finding as the same for the FEHA claims.  

   It is undisputed by the parties that in November, 2007, INDIVIDUAL stopped work with Defendant due to droopy eye, blurred vision, headaches, and dizziness as a result of his diabetes.  (RT 7:4-16, CT 80:17-25). It is also undisputed that plaintiff’s physician noted, “His eye condition has caused him to have double vision and a droopy left eyelid that will make driving unsafe because of poor depth perception.”  (CT 91, emphasis added)  Mr. INDIVIDUAL testified that he was told that he “shouldn’t be driving” by his doctor (RT 9:12-14).   However, Plaintiff testified that he still thought it was safe for him to drive with blurred vision. (RT 484: 14-16).   Mr. INDIVIDUAL also testified that on February 20, 2008, he obtained a document from his doctor that specifically stated that he could return to work to drive, and he submitted that to DEFENDANT (RT 17:1-18:25)  However, the note from his doctor also stated “But is advised to return to us if his double vision recurs” (RT 84:23)

It is also undisputed that Richard INDIVIDUAL, President of DEFENDANT, expressed concern over this note because of this statement, and the fact that the double vision might return (RT 86:1).  Similarly, Defendant’s Controller, Wanda INDIVIDUAL, and Plaintiff’s Supervisor, Alex INDIVIDUAL, expressed concerns about the Plaintiff driving safely, or endangering the public with blurred vision and dizziness (RT 76, 92-93, 305, 308-309, 312).  Defendants testified that this was the reason that they wanted him to return to work by starting in the factory, to ensure that his blurred double vision would not return and endanger others. (RT 308-309).

However, Plaintiff refused to work in the factory (RT 120:4-121:5).  
Respondent’s fears were not irrational because Plaintiff admitted that he had continued problems with blurred vision as many as three to four times.  (RT 484-485).  By Plaintiff’s own testimony and the advice of his doctor, Plaintiff was a risk to himself and to others as a truck driver.  As set forth in Siefken v. Village of Arlington Heights (7th Cir. 1995) 65 F.3d 664, 666-667,  this risk is substantial, and the courts have specifically recognized that this risk is a continuing danger to the public.  Under Siefken, as a matter of law, Diabetics are not "otherwise qualified" to drive, and Defendant’s fears regarding this were not irrational.  For these reasons, Plaintiff failed to establish that he was qualified to continue as a driver due to his recurring vision problems.
3.
Plaintiff Has Failed To Establish That He Was Subject To An Adverse Employment Action Because of His Disability 


To succeed on a wrongful termination claim under FEHA on grounds of physical disability, Plaintiff must show he was subjected to an adverse employment action because of his disability.  Faust v. California Portland Cement Co. (2007) 150 Cal.App. 4th 864,886.  According to the FEHA, an adverse employment action is an action that materially affects the terms, conditions or privileges of employment.  Yanowitz v. L’oreal USA, Inc. (2005) 36 Cal 4th 1028, 1050-1052.

As set forth above, Plaintiff was offered a position working in the warehouse on several occasions, and he refused. During Trial, Plaintiff claimed that he believed he was terminated in early December because he received a vacation check.  However, no one ever told him that he was terminated, and he never followed-up with anyone from Respondent to find out if he actually been fired or not.  On the other hand, all of Defendants employees confirmed that Plaintiff had never been terminated, but rather that he refused to work in the warehouse.  For these reasons, plaintiff cannot prove that he was subject to a termination, or in that regard, any adverse employment action.  Furthermore, Plaintiff can’t show that Defendant took any action against him that was discriminatory to his disability.

4.  Plaintiff Has Failed To Establish That He Was Replaced By A Person Outside The Protected Class.


In order to make out a case of discriminatory termination, a plaintiff must ordinarily show that the position ultimately was filled by someone not a member of the protected class.  Brown v. McLean (4th Cir. 1998) 159 F3d 898, 905.  
At the time Plaintiff went on medical leave, it is undisputed by Plaintiff and Defendant that the driving responsibilities passed to Frank De La Fuente. (RT 456)  Frank De La Fuente was already an employee with Defendant and only worked as a part-time driver (RT 454).  Instead Defendant assigned Plaintiff’s responsibilities as truck driver to an existing employee and shuffled around permanent factory work among employees who were already working with Defendant.  Mr. DeLaFuente testified that no other drivers have been hired since Plaintiff’s leave, and no one has filled Plaintiff’s position (RT 456).  Since Plaintiff failed to establish that his position was replaced by someone without a physical disability, this required element of his claim was not satisfied.  
X.
CONCLUSION

For each of the foregoing reasons, Respondent contends that Plaintiff failed to set forth adequate facts supporting his claims for Wrongful Termination in Violation of Govt Code Section 12940, and Wrongful Termination in Violation of Public Policy.  Further, on Appeal, Plaintiff has failed to provide any errors of Fact or Law that the court made which would warrant disturbing the Trial court’s findings.  For these reasons, Defendant respectfully request that the Court uphold the Trial courts rulings in this matter, and award Defendants their reasonable attorneys fees and costs incurred in this Appeal.  
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